DORREENS

Bill Dorreen is the brother of Jim whose name appears as the original landowner of the block we live on at Te Arai. I met with Bill Dorreen and his wife at their Port Albert home in October of 2002.  Jim lives in Whangarei with his daughter The brothers are from a family of 10

children and they lived at Te Arai from 1928 when he was seven until the early seventies.

Their house was originally located at the northeast end of my property overlooking the Ocean View Road! Forestry Road junction, and was subsequently moved over the hill by bullocks on the old road that still runs through Cooper’s bush. down to the site it was on when I purchased this property, in the paddock opposite the Lake Road/Ocean View Road junction. I set fire to the remains of this house on Guy Fawkes night 1996. Bill still remembers the fig tree that marks the original house site.

The farm was bought from a Mr. Laurence who was buried in the current forest camp

under an oak tree. Most of my farm was in gorse in those days. 

Neighbours were Chipchase to the north, Thomas near the Lake Road junction, Heywood

near Pacey's Quarry, Pavlovich and Moore up on Pacey's Ridge, Ridge near Mrs

Livingstone, Grant on the Spectacle Lake promontory, and Fishlock further south. Most

families were dairy farmers, but the Dorreen father was the cream carrier who carted the

cans to a depot by Ryans Road from where it was collected for the Te Hana factory.

Slipper Lake used to be known locally as Little Lake, and Spectacle as Big Lake. Large

eels and carp were always present in great abundance, so much so that swimming in the

lakes was considered very risky. Swans were also numerous. The canal exiting Slipper

Lake was where they drew all their water for drinking, washing and cooking. The canal

flow was inhibited by dense raupo and when this was removed the lake level dropped a

couple of meters to about its present level, and enabled the lakeside road to be developed.

This road was originally just a farm track which was extended bit by bit by Bills family

gradually "ploughing the top off'. Lake Road was for the main route until after the war

when Ocean View Road was upgraded from a bullock track. There were no metalled

roads in the district pre-war; rather they were clay tracks with deep wheel ruts Bill tells

of his mother walking barefoot from Te Arai to Wellsford carrying her four-year-old son

who had a puriri stick impaled in his stomach. She put on her shoes only \vhen she got to

Wellsford from where she caught the train to Auckland The injured boy was treated and

recovered. On another occasion Bill tore his knee and it took him two days travel on the

primitive roads to get him to Warkworth for treatment.

The Dorreens were the first to take action against the invasive sand dunes which were

even snapping off mature pine trees. They planted the first maram grass in the area before

Public Works took over Forestry commenced in the 70's.

The derelict corrugated iron school building which I demolished about 1998 was the third

of a succession of Te Arai Schools, and like its predecessor was originally located in the

vicinity of the Pireau yards. During the school week Te Arai pupils alternated between

their own school and the one at School Road Tomorata,

A Mrs Clemens ran the Post Office from her house on the Mangawhai Road just west of

Cemetry road. Near Cemetry Road was the library building. The nearest grocer store was

at Mangawhai.

Out on the coast Bill recalls numerous blue penguins on the rocks at the point, good

fishing using lines off the beach, and many Maori skeletons exposed by the eroding

foreshore.

HEYWARDS

The Heywards lived on what is now Russell Coopers property from 1951 to 1964. Mr

Heyward was a dairy farmer with 120 cows and carted his cream by horse and sledge

over the hill to the Lake Road/Ocean View Rd comer, though Lake Road was not a

through road and access to the ar~ was via Lake Road. Cherry Scott nee Hayward lived

here in 1951-52 before boarding at Epsom Girls Grammar. She used to walk over the hill

past our place and catch the bus at the Lake Road comer to go to Mangawhai· School,

There were no connecting roads to Tomorata School. The school bus was driven by

Jimmy Jackson. Te Arai Point Road was only developed as far as the Calders but was

used by Mrs Coulter for access, and when it was later extended to facilitate Council

quarry operations. People using it, often to access the vast mussel beds at the Point, often

got stuck on the big sand hill by the current forest entrance where the Mangawhai

publican has bought a block from Russell Cooper. In the 50s there was a hut owned by

the Council about 400 metres back from the quarry, but no other buildings on that part of

the road.

The Heywards lived in a house just above Coopers cowshed near where there is a water

tank on a rise. This house has since been burnt down. Mr Hayward built the current

Cooper house in 1957. Cherry Scott is familiar with the Chipchase grave adjacent the

track above their house and the story of how he was killed by a bolting horse. Cherry's

brother in law Des Penney owned Te Arai Point. Other neighbours were Jimmy Dorreen

who lived opposite Lake Road in the old house we "inherited". The Wordsworths lived

in the Lake Rd house next to where the Paceys are now, and the Locks lived below the

Pacey Quarry. Ron h.. and his family were living in this Lock house when one of their

children accidentally shot and killed another sibling. This caused the family to move off

the farm. Marie Simmons lived where Ingo now lives at the top of take Rd. The Te Arai

library was moved adjacent to her place from Cemetry Rd so she could keep and eye on

it. There used to be an Auckland - Whangarei bus which traveled via Mangawhai and

Waipu Cove, north on a Friday afternoon and South on Mondays. Cemetry Rd was at one

stage designated the Main Road North. In the 60s there was a community hall near the

comer of Ryans Road called the Tobacco lands Hall because tobacco was grown in the

area. The hall became Braddock's woolshed, and is now owned by Peter McIntyre. Tung

oil crops were grown on Peter McIntyre's farm.

Cherry's husband graham farmed the Keith Rd area for 30 years before establishing

Molesworth Four Square, and in 1974 had a contract for thinning the Mangawhai Forest

for posts at one shilling per post.

COOPERS

Russell Coopers father bought their farm in 1963 off Bob Hayward at which time it was

still a dairy farm. Russell's ..fatherdid not move onto it fora while, so it was initially

occupied –by Bill Batey the sharemilker. Bill is probably responsible for much of the

boundary fencing as it exists today. Russell's father went out of dairying into drystock

and niixed cropping including maize. Sweet com, melons and grapes. The grape type was

Golden Chasselas suitable for both wine and table, but of variable yield, but in the

climate of oversupply that then existed in New Zealand they only just paid their way and

Russell eventually removed them.

In 1977 after his father died Russell sold 50 acres of rough land across the canal adjacent

to Te Arai Point Road to Ali$ir Boot who established a dairy goat enterprise here.

Alistair relocated a house from Epsom onto the property and built the goat-milking shed

thatJoe Amodeo has converted into a bach. The succession of owners has been Boot-

Reynolds - Macdonald - Amodeo and Naran

Russell used the proceeds of the Boot sale to build a modem dairy shed and other

facilities, and reconverted the farm to dairying. His mother lived in an old house, a photo

of which is in the archives, on the hill above the cowshed until about 1985. The house has

been demolished in the last decade.

Russell's sisters Trixie and Dianne bought the Te Arai peninsula from Des Penney in

1966. At the time of purchase ROC requisitioned the point on the coast and the area to

the north, as much for dumping the overburden from their quarry operations as for any

other reason. The land the sisters bought was scrub covered and was used in conjunction

with the main Cooper farm It was especially valuable for wintering cows over, as many

had done before them. It is reported that prior to the depression the peninsula had been

clean and in grass. In the first of the north-south gullies back from the point, where there

is a good spring, there are relics of an old cowshed. At some time there had been a

boarding house owned by the Eyre's in the vicinity, and relics form this establishment

such as steps and masonry can also be found out near the road. A smaller building,

possibly part of the quarry operation. was located on the Eyres Point Road and may have

been covered by the moving sands.

The rocky promontories on either side of the quarry lagoon are only a fraction of their

former size. Alvin Greenwoods father was the quarry manager. Machinery included a

Fordson tractor with compressor, and an old crusher. Quarried rock used to regularly

litter the beaches north and south. Regional government environmental concerns helped

force the termination of the quarry.

Some of the early drainage work in the district would have been done by the Unkovichs who lived near Coal Hill Road pre 1920.  Like many other Dalmatians they dug for kauri gum and there is a large hole on Eric Parson’s Farm where gum was washed.  McBreen and Jenkins upgrading of the canal commencing the late 1950s would have co-incided with the formation of the local Drainage Board.

IVAN TOMAS of Wellsford narrates ...

Ivans father was a Dalmatian born in 1893. At the age of 17 he left home and travelled to

New Zealand via the USA where he worked for about three years: 10 hours a day six days

a week on the railways and in the quarries. Arriving in NZ on the ship Maheno out from

Sydney, he initially dug gum in Northland before going to the Waikato digging drains

and constructing roads.While in Auckland one day with his mate Tony Jakich (they were

from the same Dalmatian village) he learnt of a property for sale in this area. They took a

boat to Mangawhai then walked to Te Arai to inspect what was to become the family

farm. For the return journey they walked to Te Hana, but having missed the train

continued to Wellsford where they overnighted before taking the next days train back to

Auckland. They bought the farm about 1913. Ivan thinks it was Lot 33 and was about 196

acres.  A lot of effort went into digging drains through the swampy valley and clearing the

waterway right down to the beach. The Moores lived on what is now Paceys flats. Other

neighbours to the north included the Huttons, Chipchases, Conolly and Altringham. To
the South there were the Fishlocks, Jock Grant whose son Dave lives in Wellsford. Jock

was wounded in WW2 in 1942 and Ivan who about 10 at the time and admired Jock

hugely wrote him a letter which Jock kept and subsequently gave back to Ivan. There was

a Roy Heywood and his family who lived about a kilometer along Lake Road close to

Paceys Quarry in a house that was demolished about 1996.The house was originally well

up on the ridge before being pulled to its final site by a bullock team: The Haywards were

dairy farmers and had a milking shed near the foot of the quarry.

) 
Ivan has vivid memories of the large bullock team which pulled the Dorreen house from

its north Slipper Lake site to its final site opposite the Tomas house at the southern end of

the Lake.

By about 1940 the Tomas' had the first telephone in the area. When a message came

through for the Doreens, Mrs Tomas used to put a white sheet on her front fence and one

of the many Doreen children would come and get the news. 

Ivans and his siblings lived in the house that stands about 200metres south east of the

Lake Road/Ocean View Road junction. Two English tradesmen by the name of Taggart

and Thompson had apparently not long been in NZ before they. were engaged by Mr

tomas sm father to build the house. These builders had traveled to Te Hana by train, been

met by Mr Tomas and his work partner Mr Jakich, They built the house in the space of

about six weeks, a remarkably quick time considering they had to hand plane each

weatherboard and do other work that is not done today. Ivan's father, ,himself a toiler who

did not believe in sitting or lying around during daylight hours, praised them for their

speed and workmanship.  The builders lived with the Tomas family during the construction period, in another nearby house which no longer exists. In England

apparently such tradesmen would not have had such closeness with their employer.

Ivans father died at the age of 97 having often stated that nobody dies of hard work. Mr

Tomas snr was a keen gardener who also had a big and varied orchard - peaches, plums,

apples, grapes, nectarines - near the comer of Lake Rd/ Ocean View Road. Only a fig

tree remains. There were gardens in several locations, and what was not used or

preserved was given away. Plenty of poultry. No power to the area until after the Tomas,

moved out. The family moved into Wellsford in the summer of' 46 after the mother died.

The farm was bought the Blyth brothers who were a couple of returned servicemen. Ken

Blyth had married a war bride - Ada from Trieste. The other brother remained a

bachelor. In later years there was a Voss and later a Garry Watt on the property.

Until very recently another house was co-located with the Tomas house. Ivan thinks that

relocated from the Mangawhai Road where it was the home of the Unkovichs

Mr Tomas snr was a dairy farmer and he also had the cream carrier contract for a few

years. He may have sold the carrier business to Mr Tony Conolly whose truck appears in

some historical photos.

Ivan went to school across the road from his house and when it was closed during the war

he w~nt to the Tomorata school which was called the Forest Reserve School. He boarded

with his cousins the Tolich's up there. On Fridays after school he used to walk back to to

Arai, along School Road, Ocean View Road, past Civil Road and the OMalleys who had

brought the Grant property. Sometimes in the company of the Fishlock childen he would

connect with the School bus at the Ocean View Road! School Rd junction. Other times he

would take a variety of cross country detours, including one that led across the Tolich

property from near the Pakiri Block Rd to Civil Road. Ocean view Road only came north

as far as what is now the Red Hills Rd junction. After that it was just a track through the

tea tree. This latter part was government land and was used for a winter farming run-off

Lake Road was the only vehicle access out.

One night there were simultaneous fires on the Lawrence property by the Forestry Camp,

and in Cemetry Road. Suspicions were that they were arson.

Mr. Lewis is buried in the Forest Camp, Ivan’s father helped dig the grave. They had

problems with the water rising and Ivan thinks they might have had to relocate the grave.

Not so sure about Mr. Laurence being buried there.Mr Laurence and subsequently Mr.

Lewis were owners of the Northern end of my farm before Dorreens. Ivans father also

dug the grave of Mr. Connolly, killed in a wagon accident when the hoses bolted, above

Coopers present cowshed. The elder Tomas said the sand flies nearly ate him alive while

he was digging the grave.

Ivan can remember Ivan Dorreen planting maram grass on the dunes before the war.  The dunes were unproductive shifting sand and could not support even dry stock There were

tracks through the dunes to the beach, but little recreation on the beaches apart from

fishing and collectingmussells. The Tomas also caught and cooked octopus.

Ivan Dorreen was twice MID in WWII but was KIA and was buried in Caserta Cemetry ,

near Florence. 

There was no Maori presence locally. The first Maori Ivan saw was Bob Ratana who rode

up one day on his white mottled horse and caused a scared Ivan to run off to his parents

at the cowshed to tell them there was a man who had never had his face washed.

Apparently there was a major battle between warring Maoris in the Black Swamp area

and Ivan understands there has been a tapu on that area as a consequence.

The Te Arai headland used to be a very scenic area before the County established the

quarry operation. Unlike the dunes on either side, most of the Te Arai peninsula was in

pasture and mushrooms were quite prolific. During the war the army established an

observation post on the Point. The Yates family had a home down near the quarry.

The only activity on the lakes was duck shooting. The lakes had no special significance

for the locals.
